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Background to the ICAV   
 
Structure 
 
abrdn I ICAV (the “ICAV”) is an Irish registered collective asset-management vehicle incorporated on 5 
October 2017 under registration number C173973 under the name Aberdeen Standard Investments I ICAV 
and constituted as an umbrella fund. The ICAV changed its name from Aberdeen Standard Investments I 
ICAV to abrdn I ICAV effective 21 July 2022. 
 
Effective 18 December 2017, the ICAV was authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland (the 
“Central Bank”) pursuant to the Irish Collective Asset-Management Vehicle Act 2015. 
 
The ICAV is a Qualifying Investor Alternative Investment Fund (“QIAIF”) for the purposes of European 
Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 (S.I. 257 of 2013) (the “AIFM 
Regulations”) and has appointed abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. to be its Alternative Investment Fund 
Manager (“AIFM”). The ICAV is marketed solely to Qualifying Investors and Knowledgeable Investors (as 
defined in the Central Bank’s AIF Rulebook). 
 
The ICAV is an umbrella fund, which may comprise different funds each with one or more classes of 
shares. Different classes of shares may be issued from time to time with the prior notification to and 
clearance of the Central Bank. Each class represents interests in a fund and may be income classes of 
shares, which are intended to distribute dividends as set out in the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) and the 
relevant supplement (the “Supplement”). 
 
At the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the ICAV comprises of one fund, abrdn Global Private Markets 
Fund (the “Fund”), with the following share classes with their respective currencies listed below: 
 
Share Classes     Class currency 
Class EUR Accumulating Shares  EUR 
Class GBP Accumulating Shares  GBP 
Class USD Accumulating Shares  USD 
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares EUR 
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares EUR 
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares GBP 
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares USD 
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares EUR 
 
The Fund commenced trading on 15 January 2018. 
 
Investment Objectives and Policies 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 
The Fund aims to generate growth over the long term by investing in a diversified portfolio of private market 
assets. 
 
It will consist of at least 70% private equity, infrastructure, real estate and private debt assets located in 
OECD jurisdictions, Emerging Markets or such other jurisdictions globally as may be determined by the 
Directors (although during the initial 18 months of the Fund’s existence, the allocation to such assets may 
be significantly below 70% pending the allocation of cash and liquid assets to such private equity, 
infrastructure, real estate and private debt assets). In addition, it may hold private market assets indirectly 
via other funds, public market assets including equities and bonds (whether listed or unlisted), as well as 
derivatives and money-market assets including cash. 
 
The Fund is actively managed by the investment team of the Investment Manager. Their primary focus is to 
select assets which best fulfil the Fund’s objective. The Fund’s holdings will typically consist of a mix of 
individual private market assets located around the world. These assets are selected primarily for their 
forecast return profile as informed by the Investment Manager’s global private markets research process 
and to ensure that the Fund remains adequately diversified across the different types of private market 
assets. The Fund’s portfolio will not be constructed relative to a benchmark index, but its holdings will be 
subject to constraints intended to limit absolute volatility. The constraints may vary over time. 
 
Private market assets are inherently illiquid. Selling private market assets can be a lengthy process, and 
the price at which assets can be sold may be uncertain. Consequently, investors in the Fund should be 
aware that they may not be able to sell their investment when they want to, and the Fund’s performance 
may be adversely affected by the sale of assets to meet redemption demands. 
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Background to the ICAV (continued) 
 
Investment Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund (continued) 
 
Private market assets have certain characteristics which have associated risks. Because assets do not 
trade on public markets, valuation and pricing may be difficult to determine. Assets may be long-term 
projects which have development risk and uncertainty regarding their financial viability and overall the risk 
of default, bankruptcy or dilution of the value of the Fund’s holding in individual assets is higher than for 
public market assets. 
 
Private Equity 
The Fund may gain exposure to private equity. Private equity describes the wide range of capital 
investments made by specialists in all types of companies, using share capital that is privately held rather 
than publicly traded. The Fund may gain exposure to private equity investments in underlying companies of 
different sizes, stages and geographic location, including exposure to companies through buy-out, growth 
and turnaround vehicles and exposure to start-up companies through venture capital vehicles. 
 
Infrastructure 
The Fund may gain exposure to infrastructure debt instruments, public private partnerships and private 
finance initiatives. The debt instruments may include, but are not limited to, bank loans, notes or bonds. 
Debt may be issued directly by an infrastructure company or project or may be issued by a financial 
institution that is fully secured by one or more infrastructure debt instruments. Such debt may be purchased 
in both primary and secondary markets and may be listed or unlisted. The Fund’s Prospectus and 
Supplement contains the list of the infrastructure sectors that form the focus of the Fund’s investments. 
 
Natural Resources 
The Fund may gain exposure to natural resources through the investment and via the underlying 
investments in vehicles, in farmlands and other natural resources. 
 
Real Estate  
The Fund may gain exposure to Real Estate and the underlying investments of the Real Estate Related 
Assets. The Fund may gain exposure to development, retail, commercial, infrastructural, leisure, office, 
residential, industrial or other such opportunities.   
 
Private Debt  
The Fund may gain exposure to senior secured loans, senior secured bonds, mezzanine loans and 
unitranche debt issued by companies located in OECD jurisdictions, Emerging Markets or such other 
jurisdictions globally as may be determined by the Directors. Unitranche debt is a blend of senior and 
subordinated debt with a risk profile and interest rate falling between those typical for senior and 
subordinated loans. The Fund may also gain exposure to instruments such as senior secured fixed rate 
notes, subordinated loans, senior unsecured loans, senior and subordinated corporate debt obligations 
(such as bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper), convertible debt obligations, preferred stock, 
and repurchase agreements. The Fund may gain exposure to stressed and distressed debt securities 
including loans and bonds issued by entities that are experiencing significant financial or business 
difficulties. 
 
Equities  
The Fund may gain exposure to public-market equity and equity-related securities (including financial 
derivative instruments on equity securities).  
 
Fixed Income Instruments  
The Fund may gain exposure to public-market fixed income securities and derivatives relating to fixed 
income securities, including convertible bonds and warrants. The fixed income securities and fixed income 
related instruments to which the Fund may gain investment exposure include, but are not limited to 
corporate and government bonds, municipal bonds, sovereign and supranational debt, credit default 
swaps, currency swaps, futures, forwards, and other types of listed and unlisted securities, investments in 
structured products and such other securities and instruments similar in nature to the foregoing as may 
seem appropriate to the Investment Manager and which may be listed on a regulated market or be unlisted.  
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Background to the ICAV (continued) 
 
Investment Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund (continued) 
 
Derivatives  
The Fund may use derivatives to reduce risk or cost, or to generate additional capital or income at 
proportionate risk (“Efficient Portfolio Management”). Derivatives, including total return swaps, will only be 
used for hedging or to provide exposures that could be achieved through investment in the assets to which 
the Fund may gain its primary investment exposure. Usage of derivatives is monitored to ensure that the 
Fund is not exposed to excessive or unintended risks.  
 
Collective Investment Schemes  
The Fund shall not invest more than 15% of its NAV in aggregate directly in such funds managed or 
operated with the Aberdeen Group plc, the other Funds of the ICAV and Underlying Funds. Such funds 
may be regulated or unregulated, leveraged or un-leveraged and may be domiciled in any jurisdiction 
worldwide. When domiciled in unregulated jurisdictions, such collective investment schemes or exchange 
traded funds will not provide a level of investor protection equivalent to funds authorised under Irish laws 
and subject to Irish regulations and conditions.  
 
Intermediate Vehicles  
The Fund may gain indirect exposure to the above investments by acquiring participating equity interests 
in, or debt instruments of, one or more Intermediate Vehicles which provides the Fund with an economic 
exposure consistent with its stated investment objective and policies. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Intermediate Vehicles in which the Fund may acquire equity interests and/or debt instruments shall not be 
subject to the limitation on investment in funds managed or operated with the Aberdeen Group plc, any 
other Funds of the ICAV and Underlying Funds as set out in the Prospectus.  
 
Cash Management 
The Fund may hold cash or invest its cash balances at such times in Money Market Instruments pending 
investment of such cash or in order to fund anticipated expenses of the Fund or otherwise in the sole 
discretion of the Investment Manager. The Fund will not invest more than 50% of its NAV in any individual 
money market fund. Any manager of any investment fund in which the Fund invests, which is an affiliate of 
the Investment Manager, will waive any preliminary/initial sales charge which it is entitled to charge in 
respect of investments made by the Fund in that investment fund but investment by the Fund in such 
investment fund may be subject to fees and expenses such as management fees, administration fees and 
custodial fees. During periods of adverse market or economic conditions or at other times deemed 
advisable by the Investment Manager, the Fund may invest all or a significant portion of its assets in these 
securities or hold cash. 
 
Liquidity Management 
The Investment Manager maintains a liquidity management policy to monitor the liquidity risk of the Fund, 
which includes, among other tools and methods of measurement, the use of stress tests under both normal 
and exceptional liquidity conditions. The liquidity management systems and procedures allow the 
Investment Manager to apply various tools and arrangements necessary to ensure that the portfolio of the 
Fund is sufficiently liquid to normally respond appropriately to redemption requests.  
 
Legal or Management Control 
The Fund may acquire shares carrying voting rights or other interests which would enable it to exercise a 
significant influence of the management of an issuer; or take or seek to take legal or management control 
of the issuer of any of its underlying Investments.  
 
Please refer to the Prospectus and Supplement for further details on the Investment Policies. 
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Directors’ Report 
 
The Board of Directors (the “Directors”) present their report and the audited financial statements of abrdn I 
ICAV (the “ICAV”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. 
 
Principal Activity and Review of the Business 
Effective 18 December 2017, the ICAV was authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland (the 
“Central Bank”) pursuant to the Irish Collective Asset-Management Vehicle Act 2015 to 2021. The ICAV is 
an umbrella fund, which may comprise different funds each with one or more classes of shares. At the 
financial year ended 31 March 2025 the ICAV comprises of one fund, abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
(the “Fund”). 
 
The Fund commenced trading on 15 January 2018.  
 
The ICAV has been accepted into the FCA Temporary Permissions Regime, which will enable the sub-fund 
to continue to access the UK market.  
 
Results and Dividends  
The results for the financial year are shown on page 16. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a 
dividend for the financial year ended 31 March 2025. 
 
Changes in Directors, Secretary and Registered Office 
There were no changes in Company Secretary or Registered Office during the year. However, effective 3 
June 2025, the Company Secretary and Registered Office were updated to Carne Global Financial 
Services Limited, 3rd Floor, 55 Charlemont Place, Dublin 2, Ireland, D02 F985. 
 
Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests in the ICAV 
The names of the individuals who are the Directors and Secretary to the ICAV at the date of this report are 
listed on page 1. The Directors and Secretary and their families had no interest in the shares of the ICAV 
as at 31 March 2025. 
 
Accounting records 
The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of Section 110 of the ICAV Act 2015 
to 2021 with regard to the accounting records by employing the resources of an administrator, BNY Mellon 
Fund Services (Ireland) DAC. During the financial year, the accounting records of the ICAV were 
maintained at the offices of the Administrator: One Dockland Central, Guild Street, IFSC, Dublin 1. 
 
Corporate Governance Statement 
The ICAV is subject to and complies with Irish Statute comprising the Instrument of Incorporation and the 
ICAV Act 2015 to 2021, as applicable to investment funds. 
 
The ICAV is subject to corporate governance practices imposed by: 
 
1. The Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 to 2021, which are available for inspection at 
the registered office of the ICAV and may also be obtained at www.irishstatutebook.ie. 
 
2. The Instrument of Incorporation of the ICAV which is available for inspection at the registered office of 
the ICAV and at www.centralbank.ie. 
 
3. The Central Bank of Ireland Alternative Investment Fund European Union (Alternative Fund Managers) 
Regulations 2013 (S.I 283 of 2013) (the “AIFMD Regulations”) which can be obtained from the Central 
Bank of Ireland’s website at: www.centralbank.ie and are available for inspection at the registered office of 
the ICAV. 
 
The ICAV voluntarily adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as published by Irish Funds. 
The Board has reviewed and assessed the measures included in the Code and considers its corporate 
governance practices and procedures since the adoption of the Code as consistent therewith. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The principal risks and uncertainties facing the ICAV relating to the investments held by it are set out in 
note 16 to the financial statements. 
 
Political and Charitable Donations 
The ICAV did not make any political or charitable donations during the financial year. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
 
Connected Parties 
The Central Bank of Ireland AIF Rulebook Chapter 2.viii – ‘Dealings by management company, general 
partner, depositary, AIFM, investment manager or by delegates or group companies of these states in 
paragraph one that any transaction carried out with a qualifying investor AIF by a management company, 
general partner, depositary, AIFM, investment manager or by delegates or group companies of these must 
be carried out as if negotiated at arm’s length. Transactions must be in the best interests of the unitholders. 
The AIF is satisfied that there are arrangements (evidenced by written procedures) in place, to ensure that 
the obligations set out in paragraph 1 of Section 1.xii are applied to all transactions with connected parties; 
and the AIF is satisfied that transactions with connected parties entered into during the financial year 
complied with the obligations set out in this paragraph. 
 
The ICAV has no immediate parent. The ultimate controlling parties of the ICAV are the Directors. 
 
Significant Events During the Financial Year  
 
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares were launched on 31 May 2024. 
 
There were no other significant event impacting the ICAV during the financial year. 
 
Going Concern 
 
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the ICAV will 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Directors have made an assessment of the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 
satisfied that the ICAV has the resources to continue in business for a period of at least 12 months beyond 
the date these financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Based on a review of the above, the Directors are satisfied that the ICAV has, and will maintain, sufficient 
resources to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of issuance 
of these financial statements. Accordingly, the Financial Statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
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Directors’ Report (continued) 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
Effective from 3 June 2025, Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited was appointed as AIFM.  
 
Effective 3 June 2025, the Company Secretary and Registered Office were updated to Carne Global 
Financial Services Limited, 3rd Floor, 55 Charlemont Place, Dublin 2, Ireland, D02 F985. 
 
The Fund’s prospectus is amended on 3 June 2025, to reflect roles and responsibilities of AIFM and 
changes in AIFM fees. 
 
There were no other subsequent events impacting the ICAV since the financial year end. 
 
Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation 
The investments underlying this financial product do not take into account the European Union criteria for 
environmentally sustainable economic activities and hence the ICAV classify as Article 6 Fund according to 
Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation requirements. 
 
Future Developments in the Business 
The Directors expect the current level of activities to continue for the foreseeable future. 
 
Independent Auditor 
The independent auditor, KPMG, Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm have indicated their 
willingness to continue to act as independent auditors to the ICAV in accordance with section 125 (2) of the 
ICAV Act. 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
_______________                                     ______________________ 
Director              Director 
 
Date: 11 September 2025 
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities    

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and financial statements, in accordance 
with applicable law and regulations.  
 
The Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 to 2021 requires the Directors to prepare 
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the financial 
statements in accordance with FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland”.  
 
The financial statements are required to give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial 
position of the ICAV at the end of the financial year and of the increase in net assets attributable to holders 
of redeemable participating shares in the ICAV for the financial year. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:   
 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;  
 assess the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern; and 
 use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the ICAV or to 

cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and decrease in net assets attributable to 
holders of redeemable participating shares in the ICAV and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 to 2021. They have 
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the 
ICAV. In this regard they have entrusted the assets of the ICAV to a depositary for safe-keeping. They are 
responsible for such internal controls as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ Report 
that complies with the requirements of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015 to 2021. 
 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
______________                                     ______________________ 
Director           Director 
 
Date: 11 September 2025 
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REPORT FROM THE DEPOSITARY TO THE SHAREHOLDERS 

For the period from 1st April 2024 to 31st March 2025 (the “Period”) 

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Dublin Branch (the “Depositary”, “us”, “we”, or “our”), in its capacity as Depositary 
to abrdn I ICAV (formerly Aberdeen Standard Investments I ICAV) (the “AIF”), has enquired into the conduct of Aberdeen 
Standard Investments Luxembourg S.A. as the authorised alternative investment fund manager (the “AIFM”), in respect 
of the AIF, and the AIF for the Period. 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared solely for the shareholders in the AIF in accordance with the Central 
Bank’s AIF Rulebook (the “AIF Rulebook”) and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown. 

 

Responsibilities of the Depositary 

Our duties and responsibilities are outlined in: (i) the AIF’s constitutional documents; (ii) the investment fund legislation, 
as defined in the AIF Rulebook, and (iii) the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 
(S.I. No. 257 of 2013), Directive 2011/61/EU, Commission Regulation No. 231 of 2013, and the AIF Rulebook. One of 
those duties is to enquire into the conduct of the AIFM and the AIF in each annual accounting period and report thereon 
to the shareholders. 

Our report must state whether, in our opinion, the AIF has been managed in the Period in accordance with specified 
requirements of the investment fund legislation and the AIF Rulebook, as appropriate, and it is the overall responsibility 
of the AIFM and the AIF to comply with these provisions. If the AIFM or the AIF has not so complied, we, as Depositary, 
must state why we consider this to be the case and detail the actions which we have undertaken to rectify matters. 

 

Basis of Depositary opinion 

The Depositary conducts such reviews as it, in its reasonable opinion, considers necessary in order to comply with its 
duties as outlined in the AIF’s constitutional documents and the investment fund legislation, and to ensure that, in all 
material respects, the AIF has been managed:  

(a) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the authorised AIF by 

the constitutional document and by the Central Bank under the powers granted to the Central Bank by the 

investment fund legislation; and 

(b) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional document and the investment fund legislation. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the AIF has been managed during the Period, in all material respects: 

(a) in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment and borrowing powers of the AIF by the 

constitutional document and by the Central Bank under the powers granted to the Central Bank by the 

investment fund legislation; and 

(b) otherwise in accordance with the provisions of the constitutional document and the investment fund legislation. 

 

 
______________________ 

For and on behalf of 
The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV, Dublin Branch 
The Shipping Office, 
20-26 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2. 
Date: 11 September 2025 

Michelle Moroney
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Investment Manager’s Report   
 
After a year in which central banks look to have successfully managed inflation to more1 sustainable levels, 
tariff uncertainty has dominated investment decision making in early 2025 following the election of 
President Trump. Uncertainty surrounding the US tariff regime is likely to be a drag on deal-making 
throughout 2025 however, but we expect this effect to vary heavily by sector. The American economy has 
continued to show strong signs of growth amid exuberance in AI related investment themes, though this 
growth has been moderating from its initial high levels. In developed economies, central banks have begun 
cutting, with the US, UK, and Europe already cutting by 100bps, 75bps, and 185bps respectively over the 
past year. Across Emerging Market’s, central banks continued their easing cycle they began in 2023, and 
the Chinese economy looks strong fuelled by dominance in green tech which is helping to counteract the 
remaining weakness in the real estate market.  
 
These rate cuts have allowed for a more conducive dealmaking environment by reducing the discount rate 
used in valuations and thus, having a positive impact on asset values, allowing for investors to exit 
investments at more attractive levels. Across Private Equity, we saw recovery across Europe and the US 
on both the number of deals and the value of deals following interest rate cuts and tighter credit spreads. 
Fundraising in PE continued to be muted in 2024, marking the third year in a row in which both the number 
of funds and the total capital raised have fallen11. The slower exit environment and decreasing distributions 
to LPs as a percentage of their commitments have likely fed into this, with LPs reluctant to commit to new 
funds until they receive money from their previous investments.  
 
Private credit experienced a decrease in the number of funds closed and the total amount raised in 2024, 
although the average fund size was the highest for a year on record22. Dealmaking moderated throughout 
2024 following a surge of repricing which created pressure on spreads. Default rates as highlighted by 
Proskauer’s PC Default Index sat at 2.42% in Q1 2025, slightly lower than the end of 2024 and not 
meaningfully higher than historical levels3  
 
Infrastructure continues to see robust transaction activities, with digitalisation and decarbonisation being 
key themes at play here. The lack of correlation with other asset classes and the inflation linked nature of 
their cashflows continue to make infrastructure an attractive diversifier for investors, and the asset class is 
supported by structural megatrends. Fundraising in 2024 saw a rebound above the levels seen in 2023, 
albeit among fewer funds4 hinting towards a preference for established larger managers with proven 
returns. 
 
Dealmaking in real estate saw the strongest quarter since 2022 in Q4 2024, with transaction values 
growing in all major regional markets. Global direct real estate returns look to have turned a corner and 
have now turned positive globally, driven by the UK and Europe with the US and APAC lagging somewhat. 
Fundraising across real estate was lower in 2024, and the average fund size closed was the lowest since 
20035.  
 
Overall, we continue to see attractiveness in private markets as rates continue to drop, and inflation is 
further tamed to target levels. We expect this to create an uptick in dealmaking throughout 2025 providing 
long-awaited returns in private equity. As companies continue to seek access to non-bank financing, the 
private credit space looks likely to continue its growth trajectory, though lowering rates will feed into lower 
returns here. The geopolitical uncertainty will keep infrastructure on the forefront of investors’ minds due to 
the lack of correlation with other asset classes and the inflation linked nature of its cash-flows. Real estate 
looks to have come through the other side of a sizeable correction, with lower supply helping to improve 
returns and asset values providing much needed relief for the asset class.  
 
Activity  
 
Throughout the year the Fund has made no new investments in any asset class. From the existing book, 
we continue to work closely with micro-mobility company Dott following the merger with Tier, a Germany 
based peer company. We are monitoring the progress of the post merger synergies and success of 
migration of Tier customers to the Dott platform. In Venture, we saw the resumption of distributions from 
certain funds following a period of low exits, driven by the market environment. US Venture Fund 1 took its 
DPI (Distribution to Paid In Capital) ratio from 1.4x to 1.8x over the year, while US Venture Fund 3 took its 
DPI from 0.0x to 0.1x despite being a relatively young vintage. AVP XI also made its first distribution to  

 
1 Preqin, August 2025 
 

2 Preqin, August 2025 
3 Proskauer, April 2025 
4 Preqin, August 2025 
 

5 Preqin, August 2025 
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Investment Manager’s Report (continued)  
 
Activity (continued) 
 
investors. In Private Credit, India Credit Fund II continued to make good distributions as it enters the end of 
its harvest stage, with its DPI moving from 0.4x at the start of the year to 1.0x at the end of the year, with 
the expectation that the fund tops out at 1.2-1.3x DPI by end of fund life.  
 
abrdn Investment Management Limited  
11 September 2025 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of abrdn I ICAV  
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of abrdn I ICAV (‘the ICAV’) for the year ended 31 March 

2025 set out on pages 15 to 39, which comprise the statement of financial position, statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in net assets attributable to redeemable participating 

shareholders, statement of cash flows and related notes, including the summary of significant 

accounting policies set out in note 2. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is Irish Law and FRS 102 

The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland issued in the United 

Kingdom by the Financial Reporting Council. 

In our opinion: 
 
-    the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of  
     the ICAV as at 31 March 2025 and of its increase in net assets attributable to redeemable 
     participating shareholders for the year then ended; 
 
-    the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial             
     Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and 

-    the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Acts 2015 to 2021. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (ISAs 

(Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 

independent of the ICAV in accordance with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 

financial statements in Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and 

Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern 

basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the ICAV’s ability to 

continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are 

described in the relevant sections of this report. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of abrdn I ICAV (Continued) 
 

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with 

the financial statements. The other information comprises the information included in the directors’ 

report, depositary report, investment manager’s report, unaudited schedule of investments, unaudited 

reporting requirement in respect of the AIFM Directive and Unaudited reporting requirement in respect 

of the Securities Financing Transactions Regulations 2016. The financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements 

does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except 

as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our 

financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the 

financial statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work undertaken during the course 

of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the other information. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Acts 

2015 to 2021 

In our opinion, the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial 

statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

The Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Acts 2015 to 2021 requires us to report to you, if in 

our opinion, the disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have 

nothing to report in this regard. 

Respective responsibilities and restrictions on use 

Responsibilities of directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 8, the directors are 

responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a 

true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

assessing the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to 

liquidate the ICAV or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 

taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA’s website at 

https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-

statements/. 

 

 

 

 

https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements/
https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-statements/
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of abrdn I ICAV (Continued) 
 

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities 

Our report is made solely to the shareholders of the ICAV, as a body, in accordance with the Section 

120 of the Irish Collective Asset-management Vehicles Act 2015. Our audit work has been undertaken 

so that we might state to the ICAVs shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an 

auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the ICAV and the ICAV’s shareholders, as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

17 September 2025 

Tony Loughnane 

for and on behalf of  

KPMG 

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm 

1 Harbourmaster Place 

IFSC 

Dublin 1 

D01 F6F5 
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Statement of Financial Position  
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 

2025 2024
Notes GBP GBP

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14 297,854,917 278,792,181
Cash and cash equivalents 7 9,727,405 38,728,501
Interest receivable 8 21,644,240 15,016,462
Other receivables and prepayments 15,643 29,526
Total Assets 329,242,205 332,566,670
Liabilities
Investment management fees payable 3 (126,321) (137,435)
Administration fees payable 3 (60,031) (29,354)
Depositary fees payable 3 (29,896) (11,726)
Directors’ fees payable 3 (21,123) (21,957)
Audit fees payable (21,992) (26,047)
Legal fees payable (7,841) (23,791)
Other payables (56,266) (17,148)
Total Liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to
redeemable participating shareholders) (323,470) (267,458)
Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating
Shareholders 328,918,735 332,299,212  
 
 

 
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors 

 
 
 

 
___________________                ________________________ 
Director                                         Director  
 
Date: 11 September 2025 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 

2025 2024
Notes GBP GBP

Income
Interest income 6 14,581,004 22,923,858
Other income   - 5,033
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss 5 11,328,196 (18,470,518)
Total income 25,909,200 4,458,373

Expenses
Investment management fees 3 (865,384) (845,151)
Administration fees 3 (127,056) (124,319)
Depositary fees 3 (71,255) (72,204)
Directors’ fees 3 (38,611) (36,405)
Audit fees 3 (21,992) (28,640)
Legal fees (52,385) (33,906)
Other expenses (209,813) (164,378)
Total expenses (1,386,496) (1,305,003)

Operating income before finance costs 24,522,704 3,153,370

Tax Expenses   - (129)

Finance costs
Interest expense (3) (67,582)
Total finance costs (3) (67,582)
Increase in net assets attributable to redeemable
participating shareholders from operations 24,522,701 3,085,659

There are no recognised gains or losses for the financial year other than those set out in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. All activities relate to continuing operations. 
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets Attributable to Redeemable Participating Shareholders  
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 

2025 2024
Note GBP GBP

Net Assets attributable to Redeemable Participating
Shareholders at the beginning of the financial year 332,299,212 327,070,540
Increase in net assets attributable to redeemable 
participating shareholders from operations 24,522,701 3,085,659

Share Capital transactions
Proceeds from the issue of redeemable participating 
shares 9 1,320,243 6,739,042
Payments on the redemption of redeemable 
participating shares 9 (29,257,742) (4,608,156)
Anti-dilution levy 9 34,321 12,127

Net Assets attributable to Redeemable Participating
Shareholders at the end of the financial year 328,918,735 332,299,212
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Statement of Cash flows 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 

2025 2024
GBP GBP

Cash flows from operating activities
Increase in net assets attributable to redeemable participating 
shareholders from operations        24,522,701          3,085,659 

Adjustments to reconcile increase in net assets attributable to 
redeemable participating shareholders from operations to net cash 
(used in)/provided by operating activities:

Net change in operating assets and liabilities:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss       (19,062,736)          5,291,840 
Interest receivable         (6,627,778)           (660,646)
Other receivables and prepayments              13,883             (15,812)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss                     -             (280,603)
Margin cash due to broker                     -               (50,000)
Investment management fees payable             (11,114)                5,763 
Administration fees payable              30,677                   806 
Depositary fees payable              18,170                   188 
Directors' fees payable                  (834)              21,957 
Audit fees payable               (4,055)                2,216 
Legal fees payable             (15,950)              10,142 
Other payables              39,118                1,495 

Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities         (1,097,918)          7,413,005 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of redeemable participating 
shares

         1,320,243          6,739,042 

Payments on the redemption of redeemable  participating shares       (29,257,742)         (4,608,156)
Anti-dilution levy              34,321              12,127 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities       (27,903,178)          2,143,013 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents       (29,001,096)          9,556,018 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year        38,728,501        29,172,483 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year          9,727,405        38,728,501 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest received          7,953,226        22,263,212 
Interest paid                     (3)             (67,582)
Taxes paid                     -                    (129)
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
 
1. General information 
 
abrdn I ICAV (the “ICAV”) is an Irish registered collective asset-management vehicle incorporated on 5 
October 2017 under registration number C173973 under the name Aberdeen Standard Investments I ICAV 
and constituted as an umbrella fund. The ICAV changed its name from Aberdeen Standard Investments I 
ICAV to abrdn I ICAV effective 21 July 2022. 
 

Effective 18 December 2017, the ICAV was authorised and regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland (the 
“Central Bank”) pursuant to the Irish Collective Asset-Management Vehicle Act 2015 to 2021. 
 

The registered office of the ICAV is 70 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay, Dublin 2, Ireland.  
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 
a) Statement of Compliance 
 

These financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 have been prepared in accordance 
with the Financial Reporting Standard 102 (“FRS 102”), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 
UK, the Republic of Ireland and Irish statue comprising the ICAV Act 2015 to 2021, AIFM Regulations and 
the Central Bank’s AIF Rulebook. 
 
b) Basis of Preparation 
 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the ICAV has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Therefore, the ICAV continues to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing its financial statements. Please refer to note 2(o) for further details. 
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention with the exception of financial 
assets and liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss that have been measured at fair value.  
 
As at 31 March 2025, abrdn Global Private Markets Fund (the “Fund”), a sub-fund of the ICAV, subscribes 
for the profit participating notes of abrdn GPM 1 Designated Activity Company (“DAC 1”) and abrdn GPM 2 
Designated Activity Company (“DAC 2”). The Fund has also subscribed to the equity of DAC 1 and DAC 2. 
The Directors are of the opinion that the ICAV Controls DAC 1 and DAC 2 and as such the ICAV is a 
parent to its subsidiaries DAC 1 and DAC 2. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the ICAV meets the definition of an investment entity. The following 
conditions exist: 
1) The ICAV has obtained funds for the purpose of providing investors with investment management 
services. 
2) The investments held by the ICAV are measured and evaluated on a fair value basis and information 
about those investments are provided to investors on a fair value basis. 
3) Commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital 
appreciation, investment income or both. 
 
Along with meeting the definition, following are typical characteristics of an investment entity; 
a) it has more than one investment; 
b) it has more than one investor; 
c) it has investors that are not related parties of the entity; and,       
d) it has ownership interests in the form of equity or similar interests. 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the ICAV meets the characteristics of an investment entity based on 
the following; 
 As at 31 March 2025, the ICAV has more than one investment held in the form of investments in DAC 1 

and DAC 2; 
 The ICAV has more than one investor, which are unrelated to the ICAV; and 
 The ICAV’s ownership interests in DAC 1 and DAC 2 is in the form of debt instruments through Profit 

Participating Notes (PPNs). However, an entity that has significant ownership interests in the form of 
debt that, in accordance with other applicable international accounting standards, that does not meet 
the definition of equity, may still qualify as an investment entity, provided that the debt holders are 
exposed to variable returns from changes in the fair value of the entity’s net assets. The ICAV is 
exposed to variable returns as the PPNs are carried at fair value through profit or loss which represents 
the ICAV’s share of the fair value of the issuing company’s net assets. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
b) Basis of Preparation (continued) 
 
The ICAV has availed of the exemption available to investment funds under FRS 102, Section 9 
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” not to consolidate a subsidiary held as part of an 
investment portfolio. 
 
The financial statements are presented in British Pound (GBP), which is also the ICAV’s functional 
currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest British Pound (GBP), unless otherwise indicated. 
 
c) Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair value Through Profit or Loss 
 
For the year ended 31 March 2025, the ICAV held forward currency contracts at fair value through profit or 
loss along with investments in DAC 1 and DAC 2. DAC 1 and DAC 2 are subsidiaries of the ICAV and held 
as investments at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with FRS 102, Section 9 “Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements”. 
 
Under FRS 102, in accounting for its financial instruments a reporting entity is required to apply either a) 
the full provisions of section 11 “Basic Financial Instruments” and section 12 “Other Financial Instruments” 
of FRS 102, b) the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement and only the presentation and disclosure requirements of Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 
102; or c) the recognition and measurement provisions of International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). Financial Instruments and IAS 39 (as amended following the publication of IFRS 9) and only the 
presentation and disclosure requirements of Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102. The ICAV has chosen to 
implement the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 and only the disclosure requirements of 
Sections 11 and 12. In addition to the disclosure requirements of Sections 11 and 12, the requirements of 
Section 34 “Specialised Activities” relating to Financial Institutions are also met. 
 
Classification  
 
The ICAV classifies its investments as financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). The category of financial assets through profit or loss comprises financial instruments designated 
by the Board of Directors at inception, as being at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets 
designated at fair value through profit or loss, at inception, are those that are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with the documented investment strategy. 
 
Recognition and Derecognition  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially recognised on the trade date, which is the 
date on which the ICAV becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the date on which they are originated.  
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired 
or have been transferred and the ICAV has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expires. 
 
Measurement  
 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised and subsequently 
measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets are 
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, in the financial year in which they arise. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange traded derivatives) is 
based on quoted market prices at the statement of financial position date. 
 
In circumstances where the last traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, management will determine 
the point within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value. 
 
The ICAV may from time to time invest in financial instruments or securities that are not traded in an active 
market (for example over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivatives and private placements of both equities and fixed 
income securities).  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
c) Financial Assets and Liabilities at Fair value Through Profit or Loss (continued) 
 
Measurement (continued) 
 
The ICAV may trade in derivative financial instruments whose values are based upon an underlying asset, 
index, currency or interest rate. The net unrealised gains or losses, rather than contracts or notional 
amounts, represents the approximate future cash flows from trading. 
 
Forward currency contracts 
Forward currency contracts are recorded on the trade date and are valued at the applicable foreign 
exchange rates on the last business day of the year. The difference between the fair value of the original 
contract amount and the fair value of the open forward contract position is reflected as financial assets or 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of financial position and as net gain or 
loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 

Futures contracts 
Futures contracts are recorded on the trade date and are valued at the applicable last traded price on the 
last business day of the year. The difference between the original contract amount and the fair value of the 
open futures position is reflected as financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
in the statement of financial position and as net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. Realised gains or losses are recognised 
on the closing or trade date of the contract and are included in net gain/(loss) on financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Total return swaps 
Total return swaps are contracts in which the ICAV pays or receives a series of cash flows based upon the 
total return of a specified asset in return for paying or receiving, respectively, a fixed or floating rate of 
interest based upon that same specified asset. Gains and losses on total return swaps are recorded as net 
gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 
Any exchange traded derivative instruments (including, but not limited to, options and futures) dealt in on a 
market are valued at the settlement price on the relevant valuation day for such instruments on such a 
market. If the settlement price is not available, their probable realisation value shall be determined with 
care and in good faith by the ICAV. 
 

Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or the ICAV has 
transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

d) Offsetting Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. As at 31 March 2025 and 31 
March 2024, no financial assets and liabilities are offset in the statement of financial position. 
 
e) Income and Expenses  
 
Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on an 
effective yield basis.  
 
Operating expenses are expensed in the financial year to which they relate and are accounted for on an 
accrual basis. 
 

f) Functional and Presentation Currency  
 

Items included in the ICAV’s financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the ICAV operates (the “functional currency”). In accordance with FRS 102, Section 
30 “Foreign Currency Translation”, the functional currency of the ICAV has been evaluated by the Directors 
at the launch of the Fund. The Board of Directors considers the British Pound to be its functional currency 
as the British Pound most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events 
and conditions. Should any significant changes to the income profile of the Fund occur the Directors will 
review this functional currency selection for appropriateness. 
 
The functional currency and presentation currency of the ICAV is British Pound.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
g) Foreign currency 
 
Transactions during the year denominated in foreign currencies have been translated at the rates of 
exchange ruling at the dates of transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates of exchange in effect at the date of the statement of financial position. For 
investment transactions and investments held as at year end denominated in foreign currency, resulting 
gains or losses are included in the net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
h) Redeemable Participating Shares  
 
Redeemable participating shares are redeemable at the shareholder’s option and are classified as financial 
liabilities. Shareholders may request the ICAV to redeem their shares on, and with effect from, any dealing 
day at the net asset value per share less any applicable duties and charges on such dealing day (subject to 
such adjustments, if any, as may be specified including, without limitation, any adjustment required for 
redemption charges). 
 
i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and Cash equivalents includes cash in hand and other short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value with original maturities of three months or less. 
 
The ICAV’s investment in abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) is classified as cash equivalent based on short term 
highly liquid investment which also has insignificant risk of changes in fair value. 
 
j) Margin cash with brokers/due to broker 
 
Margin cash with brokers includes amounts transferred as collateral against open derivative contracts. 
Amounts receivable from short sales and collateral may be restricted in whole or in part until the related 
securities are purchased. 
 
Margin cash due to brokers includes amounts to be transferred as collateral against open derivative 
contracts. Amounts payable against the open positions and collateral may be restricted in whole or in part 
until the related positions are squared off. To the extent that securities are purchased on margin, the 
margin debt may be secured on the related securities. 
 
k) Dividend Distribution Policy  
 
The Instrument of Incorporation empowers the Directors to declare dividends in respect of any shares out 
of net income (including dividend and interest income) and the excess of realised and unrealised capital 
gains over realised and unrealised losses in respect of investments of the ICAV. However, in practice, the 
Directors do not expect to declare dividends out of capital and will only declare them in respect of net 
income.  
 
Dividend distributions, if any, are recognised as finance costs when declared in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Currently the Directors anticipate that there will be no dividend distributions in 
respect of the ICAV. Accordingly, income and realised capital gains arising in respect of the ICAV will be 
re-invested in the ICAV. 
 
l) Taxation  
 
The ICAV intends generally to conduct its affairs such that its profit will be subject to taxes only in Ireland. 
Under current Irish law and practice, the ICAV qualifies as an investment undertaking as defined in Section 
739B of the Taxes Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended. On that basis, Irish tax is not chargeable to the 
ICAV on its income or capital gains.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
m) Net Gains/Losses on Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss  
 
Realised gains or losses on the sale of investments arising during the financial year are calculated on a 
First-In, First-Out (“FIFO”) basis and are taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  
 
The movement in unrealised gains or losses on investments is reflected in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income under ‘net gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ and includes 
all fair value changes and foreign exchange differences. 
 
n) Accounting Estimates and Judgements  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain accounting 
estimates and judgments that management have made in applying the ICAV’s accounting policies and that 
have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  
 
The Investment Manager makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. Critical accounting 
judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty used in preparing the financial information are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the actual results. 
 
Any estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities predominantly relate to the fair value of the profit participating notes and 
derivatives. Any changes in data inputs and assumptions for valuation of financial instruments could affect 
the reported fair value of financial instruments and the differences could be material. Judgement is also 
applied in determining what constitutes ‘observable’ inputs for the valuation of financial instruments, which 
may significantly affect the fair value measurement. 
 
Measurement of fair values involves estimation and judgment refer to note 14.  
 
o) Going Concern 
The Financial Statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the ICAV will 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
 
The Directors have made an assessment of the ICAV’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 
satisfied that the ICAV has the resources to continue in business for a period of at least 12 months beyond 
the date these financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Based on a review of the above, the Directors are satisfied that the ICAV has, and will maintain, sufficient 
resources to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of issuance 
of these financial statements. Accordingly, the Financial Statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 

3. Operating Expenses 
 
Directors’ fees 
 
The Directors are entitled to a fee as remuneration for their services as Directors, at a rate to be 
determined from time to time by the Directors. The aggregate amount of Directors’ remuneration in any one 
year shall not exceed EUR75,000. Directors’ fees, excluding VAT, charged for the financial year ended 31 
March 2025 was GBP38,611 (31 March 2024: GBP36,405) and the amount outstanding at 31 March 2025 
was GBP21,123 (31 March 2024: GBP21,957). 
 
AIFM fee 
 
No fee is payable by the ICAV to the AIFM. 
 
Investment Management fee 
 
The ICAV pays the Investment Manager an investment management fee, out of the assets of the ICAV, of 
such percentage per annum of the average daily net asset value of the ICAV as is disclosed in the table 
below accruing daily. The ICAV also reimburses the Investment Manager for its reasonable out-of-pocket 
expenses. In the event of an increase in the investment management fee, shareholders will be provided 
with reasonable advance notification in order to enable shareholders to redeem their shares prior to the 
implementation of the increase. The maximum investment management fee provided for in the Instrument 
of Incorporation will not be increased without the approval of shareholders by way of an extraordinary 
resolution of shareholders of the relevant Class. 
 
Class     Investment Management Fee 
Class EUR Accumulating Shares   0.85% 
Class GBP Accumulating Shares   0.85% 
Class USD Accumulating Shares   0.85% 
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares  1.80% 
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares  0.00% 
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares               0.00% 
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares               0.00% 
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares  0.55% 
 
 
The Investment Manager does not intend to charge a performance fee. Investment management fees 
charged for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 was GBP865,384 (31 March 2024: GBP845,151) and 
the amount outstanding at 31 March 2025 was GBP126,321 (31 March 2024: GBP137,435). 
 
Administration fees 
 
The Administrator is entitled to receive, out of the assets of the ICAV, a monthly fee (including certain 
transaction charges, all reasonable disbursements and out of pocket expense) which accrue daily and are 
payable monthly in arrears at a rate which shall not exceed 0.04% per annum of the net asset value of the 
ICAV. This fee may be waived by the Administrator for such period or periods of time as may be agreed 
between the ICAV and the Administrator from time to time. The administration fees are subject to an annual 
minimum fixed fee out of the assets of the ICAV of GBP65,500. Administrator fees charged for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2025 was GBP127,056 (31 March 2024: GBP124,319) and the amount outstanding 
at 31 March 2025 was GBP60,031 (31 March 2024: GBP29,354). 
 
Depositary fees 
 
The Depositary is entitled to a monthly fee in respect of its depositary and trustee services out of the assets 
held on behalf of the ICAV in an amount which shall not exceed 0.03% per annum of the net asset value of 
the ICAV. The Depositary fee accrued daily and is payable monthly in arrears. The Depositary fees is 
subject to an annual minimum depositary services fixed fee of GBP20,000 payable out of the assets of the 
ICAV. In addition to such remuneration, the Depositary is entitled to receive transaction based charges and 
certain service fees at normal commercial rates, and shall be reimbursed by the ICAV for all of its 
reasonable disbursements, including the fees and expenses of any sub-custodian (which shall be at normal 
commercial rates) and transaction charges (which shall also be at normal commercial rates) levied by the 
sub-custodian and which is payable by the ICAV, and which, in aggregate, shall not exceed 1% per annum.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
3. Operating Expenses (continued) 
 
Depositary fees (continued) 
 
The Depositary fee is calculated at a rate determined by the territory or country in which the ICAV’s assets 
are held. Currently, the lowest rate is 0.025% and the highest rate is 0.075% of the net asset value of the 
ICAV annually. Depositary fees charged for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 was GBP71,255 
(31 March 2024: GBP72,204) and the amount outstanding at 31 March 2025 was GBP29,896 (31 March 
2024: GBP11,726). 
 
Distributor’s fees 
 
In consideration of the services provided by the Distributor pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, the 
Distributor is entitled to a distribution fee at the annual rate of up to 1% of the net asset value per Share. 
The current fee is 0.00%. Any distribution fee payable to the Distributor shall accrue daily and is payable 
monthly in arrears at the end of each calendar month. 
 
Audit fees 
 
Audit fees paid to the statutory auditor, KPMG, in respect of the financial year, entirely relate to the audit of 
the financial statements of the ICAV. There were no fees and expenses paid in respect of other assurance, 
tax advisory or non-audit services provided by the auditors during the financial year ended 31 March 2025. 
Audit fees charged for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 were EUR26,278 (2024: EUR25,513). The 
audit fees translated in functional currency as of the date of transaction amounted to GBP21,992 (31 March 
2024: GBP21,811) excluding VAT.  
 
Director Support Services 
 
The ICAV pays a fee to Carne Global Financial Services Limited (“Carne”) for director support services. 
The aggregate director support services fees due to Carne for the financial year was GBP12,676 (31 March 
2024: GBP11,541) excluding VAT. This expense is included within other expenses in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
4. Investment Entities 
 
The ICAV has an interest in DAC 1 and DAC 2 through its investment in the profit participating notes issued 
by these designated activity companies. The ICAV has availed of the exemption available to investment 
funds under FRS 102, Section 9 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” not to consolidate a 
subsidiary held as part of an investment portfolio. The objective of DAC 1 and DAC 2 is to undertake 
investment activities by investing in collective investment schemes (“CIS”) managed by members of the 
wider Aberdeen Group plc or third party managers. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
5. Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 
The net gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss shown in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 and year ended 31 March 
2024 is as follows: 
 

2025 2024
GBP GBP

Realised losses on foreign currency (530,676) (854,910)
Realised losses on total return swaps  - (1,886,120)
Realised losses on future contracts (9,285) (5,500)
Unrealised loss on foreign currency (829) (265)
Unrealised loss on forward currency contracts (34,417)               (6,711)
Unrealised gain on total return swaps  - 237,117
Unrealised gain/(loss) on profit participating notes 11,903,403       (15,954,129)
Net gains/(loss) on financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss 11,328,196 (18,470,518)

 
 

6. Interest Income  
 
The interest income amount stated in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is made up of the following: 
 

2025 2024
Interest income GBP GBP
Profit participating notes                13,432,667            21,117,590 
abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux)                    469,778                 609,015 
Cash/Time Deposits                    678,559              1,197,253 
Total                14,581,004            22,923,858 

 
 
7. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

2025 2024
Cash and cash equivalents GBP GBP
Cash at Bank                    152,165                  1,960,828 
Time deposits                  5,012,689                23,752,182 
abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux)                  4,562,551                13,015,491 
Total                  9,727,405                38,728,501 

 
 
The ICAV’s investment in abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) is classified as cash equivalent based on short term 
highly liquid investment which also has insignificant risk of changes in fair value. 
 
8. Interest receivable  
 
The interest receivable amount stated in the Statement of financial Positon is made up of the following: 
 

2025 2024
Interest receivable GBP GBP
Interest receivable on Profit participating notes               21,618,913              14,944,810 
Dividend receivable                     24,994                    60,767 
Other Interest receivable                          333                    10,885 
Total               21,644,240              15,016,462 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
9. Share Capital  
 
abrdn I ICAV  
 
The minimum authorised share capital of the ICAV is GBP2.00 represented by two subscriber shares of no 
par value and the maximum authorised share capital of the ICAV is 500,000,000,002, shares of no par 
value initially designated as unclassified shares. The issued share capital of the ICAV is GBP2.00 
represented by two subscriber shares of no par value issued for GBP1 each. 
 
The table below give details for the Net asset value and net asset value per unit for three reporting years: 
 

Net asset 
value

Net asset 
value per 

unit
Net asset 

value

Net asset 
value per 

unit
Net asset 

value

Net asset 
value per 

unit
Class EUR 
Accumulating Shares €64,862,487 €18.3975 €61,864,116 €16.8052 €53,477,120 €16.2905
Class GBP 
Accumulating Shares £34,603,268 £17.2982 £37,583,570 £16.1338 £39,019,142 £16.0816
Class USD 
Accumulating Shares $16,000,818 $16.2331 $14,564,279 $14.8275 $16,639,537 $14.4932
Class A EUR 
Accumulating Shares €1,101 €11.0133 €1,009 €10.0926 €0 €0.0000
Class Z EUR 
Accumulating Shares €1,963 €19.6335 €1,777 €17.6856 €1,707 €17.0673
Class Z GBP 
Accumulating Shares £226,715,174 £18.3528 £230,295,317 £16.8946 £227,600,288 £16.7753
Class Z USD 
Accumulating Shares $1,708 $17.0813 $1,545 $15.3671 $1,492 $14.9192
Class S EUR 
Accumulating Shares €1,095,895 €10.9206  -  -  -  - 

31 March 2025 31 March 2024 31 March 2023

 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 
 
Shares shall be issued at the net asset value per share on each dealing day and adding there to the 
amount of the preliminary fee (where applicable). The net asset value per share may be obtained from 
either the Investment Manager or the Administrator on each business day during normal business hours. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
9. Share Capital (continued) 
 
abrdn Global Private Markets Fund (continued) 
 
Shareholders may request the Fund to redeem their shares on and with effect from any dealing day at the 
net asset value per share less any applicable duties and charges on such dealing day in accordance with 
the redemption procedures specified in the Prospectus. A redemption request form must be received by the 
Fund no later than the relevant dealing deadline or such later time as any Director may from time to time 
permit provided that redemption request forms will not be accepted after a valuation point. 
 
The Investment Manager will take all actions it determines to be reasonably required in order to have 
sufficient funds on hand to make the redemption payment. Redemption proceeds will typically be paid out 
25 business days following the valuation point that has been applied to the redemption. 
 
The Fund offers eight (2024: seven) classes of shares in the Fund as follows: Class EUR Accumulating 
Shares, Class GBP Accumulating Shares, Class USD Accumulating Shares, Class A EUR Accumulating 
Shares, Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares, Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares, Class Z USD 
Accumulating Shares and Class S EUR Accumulating Shares. 
 
The table below gives details on shares transactions for the year ended 31 March 2025 and year ended 
31 March 2024: 
 

Opening Shares Shares Shares in issue
shares issued redeemed as at 31 March 2025

Class EUR Accumulating Shares        3,681,246         2,720 (158,359)                 3,525,607 
Class GBP Accumulating Shares        2,329,494       20,631 (349,729)                 2,000,396 
Class USD Accumulating Shares          982,247         3,442   -                   985,689 
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares                 100              -                 -                            100 
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares                 100              -                 -                            100 
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares      13,567,624              -   (1,214,452)               12,353,172 
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares                 100              -                 -                            100 
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares*                   -       100,351               -                     100,351 

Opening Shares Shares Shares in issue
shares issued redeemed as at 31 March 2024

Class EUR Accumulating Shares        3,282,717     463,771 (65,242)                 3,681,246 
Class GBP Accumulating Shares        2,426,316         9,786 (106,608)                 2,329,494 
Class USD Accumulating Shares        1,148,097         3,851 (169,701)                   982,247 
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares                   -             100               -                            100 
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares                 100              -                 -                            100 
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares      13,567,624              -                 -                 13,567,624 
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares 100              -                 -   100
 
* Class S EUR Accumulating Shares were launched on 31 May 2024. 
 
Anti-dilution levy 
 
In calculating the subscription or redemption value for a Fund, the Directors may on any dealing day add or 
deduct an anti-dilution levy to cover an estimate of duties and charges and to preserve the value of the 
underlying assets of the Fund. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
10. Related Parties  
 
FRS 102, Section 33 “Related Party Disclosures” requires the disclosure of information relating to material 
transactions with parties who are deemed to be related to the reporting entity.  
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the Investment Manager and the AIFM are related parties. Please refer to 
Note 3 to the Financial Statements for details of investment management fees due to the Investment 
Manager, the fee arrangements in place between the ICAV and the AIFM, the formation expenses and 
establishment costs of the ICAV. 
 
In the opinion of the Directors, the Directors are also related parties. Lulu Wang is an employee of the 
Aberdeen Group plc. Please refer to Note 3 to the Financial Statements for details of Directors’ fees. In 
addition to the fees received from the ICAV, Justin Egan received a fee of EUR5,913 (31 March 2024: 
EUR4,500) from the ICAV’s subsidiaries. 
 
Carne is a related party. The aggregate director support services fees due to Carne for the financial year 
was GBP12,676 (31 March 2024: GBP11,541) excluding VAT. 
 
The Investment Manager may make investments into other vehicles and legal entities managed by the 
Investment Manager (or members of the wider Aberdeen Group plc).  
 
As outlined in the Schedule of Investments, the ICAV invests in the profit participating notes of DAC 1 and 
DAC 2 which are managed by the same Investment Manager or affiliate entities within the wider Aberdeen 
Group plc and are therefore deemed to be affiliated entities. The ICAV earned interest income on these 
positions of GBP13,432,667 for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (31 March 2024: GBP21,117,590) 
and the amount outstanding at 31 March 2025 was GBP21,618,913 (31 March 2024: GBP15,016,462). 
See Note 14 for further details on the profit participating notes.  
 
As at 31 March 2025, the ICAV held GBP4,562,551 (31 March 2024: GBP13,015,491) in abrdn Liquidity 
Fund (Lux). This holding is included within the cash and cash equivalents line in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The ICAV earned interest income on this holding of GBP469,778 for the financial year ended 31 
March 2025 (31 March 2024: GBP609,015). 
 
As at 31 March 2025, two subscriber shares with no par value were held by abrdn Investment Management 
Limited and Patria Private Equity (Europe) Limited (formerly abrdn Private Equity (Europe) Limited) (31 
March 2024: two). As at 31 March 2025, 12,353,072 shares in Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares are held 
by abrdn (SLSPS) Pension Scheme and the value of the abrdn (SLSPS) Pension Scheme holding in the 
ICAV was GBP226,713,452 (31 March 2024: GBP229,217,885).  
 
As at 31 March 2025, 100 shares in each of Class GBP Accumulating Shares, Class EUR Accumulating 
Shares, Class USD Accumulating Shares, Class A EUR Accumulating Shares, Class S EUR Accumulating 
Shares, Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares, Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares and Class Z USD 
Accumulating Shares are held by abrdn Investment Management Limited. As at 31 March 2025, the value 
of the abrdn Investment Management Limited holding in the ICAV was GBP11,164 (31 March 2024: 
GBP9,504). 
 
As at 31 March 2025, 988,050 shares in Class GBP Accumulating Shares of value GBP17,091,493 (31 
March 2024: GBP20,627,740) are held by Aberdeen Diversified Income and Growth Trust plc. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, 100,251 shares in Class S EUR Accumulating Shares of value GBP916,215 (31 
March 2024: Nil) are held by The abrdn Republic of Ireland Staff Pension Scheme. 
 
11. Soft Commissions 
 
The ICAV did not enter into any soft commission arrangements during the financial year ended 31 March 
2025 or 31 March 2024.  
 
12. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities  
 

The ICAV is established as an umbrella fund with segregated liability between funds. Under Irish law, the 
assets of one Fund are not available to satisfy the liabilities of or attributable to another fund. While the 
provisions of the ICAV Act 2015 to 2021 provide for segregated liability between Funds, these provisions 
have yet to be tested in foreign courts, in particular, in satisfying local creditors’ claims. Accordingly, it is not 
free from doubt that the assets of any Fund of the ICAV may be exposed to the liabilities other Funds of the 
ICAV. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
12. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (continued) 
 
There were no other significant commitments or contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 
2024. 
 
13. Efficient Portfolio Management  
 
The ICAV may use derivatives to reduce risk or cost, or to generate additional capital or income at 
proportionate risk (“Efficient Portfolio Management”). Derivatives will only be used for hedging or to provide 
exposures that could be achieved through investment in the assets to which the ICAV may gain its primary 
investment exposure. Usage of derivatives is monitored to ensure that the ICAV is not exposed to 
excessive or unintended risks. Derivatives in which the ICAV may invest globally for Efficient Portfolio 
Management include, but are not limited to, credit default swaps, inflation swaps, asset swaps, total return 
swaps, currency swaps, interest rate swaps, repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements, futures, 
forwards, options on futures, and other types of listed and unlisted securities, options, caps, floors, 
swaptions and investments in structured products. New techniques and instruments may be developed 
which may be suitable for use by the ICAV and the ICAV (subject as aforesaid) may employ such 
techniques and instruments. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, the ICAV have not invested in forward currency contracts and as at 31 March 2024, 
the ICAV invested in forward currency contracts. 
 
14. Fair Value Estimation  
 
Investments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following fair 
value hierarchy based on the significance of the inputs used in measuring its fair value: 
 
Level 1: The unadjusted quoted price in an active market for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 
access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable (i.e. developed using 
market data) for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3: Inputs are unobservable (i.e. for which market data is unavailable) for the asset or liability. 
 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety is 
determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment based on 
unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a 
particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific 
to the asset or liability.  
 
The ICAV considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or 
updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively 
involved in the relevant market. This is the market standard interpretation of 'observable'. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
14. Fair Value Estimation (continued) 
 
The table below provides an analysis of the ICAV’s financial assets measured at fair value as at 31 March 
2025 and 31 March 2024. 
 
31 March 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss: GBP GBP GBP GBP

Profit Participating Notes                  -                   -  297,854,917  297,854,917 
Total financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss                  -                   -  297,854,917  297,854,917 

31 March 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss: GBP GBP GBP GBP

Profit Participating Notes                  -                   -  278,757,764 278,757,764
Forward contracts                  -          34,417                   - 34,417
Total financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss                  -          34,417  278,757,764  278,792,181 

 
 
The valuation of the profit participating notes represents the ICAV’s share of the fair value of the issuing 
company’s net assets. As at 31 March 2024, the investment in profit participating notes are considered 
Level 3 due to the underlying Collective Investment Schemes (“CIS”) held by DAC 1 and DAC 2 also being 
considered as Level 3. The valuation of these CIS represents the subsidiary’s share of the fair value of the 
underlying funds’ net assets determined based on this ICAV’s valuation policy, with reference to the net 
asset value calculated by the administrator of the CIS and in accordance with the requirements of the CIS.  
 
The underlying CIS held by DAC1 and DAC2 are classified as Level 3 securities as the prices of the 
underlying funds and their investment portfolios are generally not publicly traded in the market. The 
Investment Managers of these CIS also use unobservable inputs in valuation of investments held. In 
addition, the underlying funds provide for limited redemption rights by the subsidiaries throughout their 
expected life cycle and expected cash flows are dependent on the decision making of the underlying funds. 
 
DAC 1 and DAC 2 invests in CIS which exposes it to the various types of risk, which are associated with 
the investments and markets in which it invests. The ICAV is indirectly exposed to the portfolio and risks of 
the underlying CIS. The valuation of the CIS represents the Company’s share of the fair value of the 
underlying funds’ net assets as determined based on the Company’s valuation policy, with reference to the 
net asset value calculated by the administrator of the CIS and in accordance with the requirements of the 
scheme. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
14. Fair Value Estimation (continued) 
 
The ICAV’s sensitivity to other price risk movement is disclosed in note 16 (a) (iii) below. 
 
There were no transfers between levels during the year ended 31 March 2025 and year ended 31 March 
2024. 
 
The following table includes a reconciliation of changes in the ICAV’s Level 3 financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value for the year ended 31 March 2025 and year ended 31 March 2024: 
 

2025 2024

Financial Assets at fair value
Profit Participating 

Notes
Profit Participating 

Notes
GBP GBP

Opening balance 278,757,764 283,999,407
Purchases 7,193,750 23,212,486
Sales/Paydowns   - (12,500,000)
Unrealised gain 11,903,403 (15,954,129)
Closing balance 297,854,917 278,757,764

 
 
 
 

15. Portfolio Changes 
 
A full listing of the portfolio changes for the financial year is available, upon request, at no cost from the 
Administrator. 
 
16. Financial Risk Management  
 
The ICAV’s investment activities expose it to the various types of risk which are associated with the 
investments and markets in which it invests. The AIFM oversees the risk management process of the 
ICAV. It has delegated the performance of day-to-day risk management functions in respect of the ICAV to 
the Investment Manager. The following information is not intended to be a comprehensive summary of all 
risks and investors should refer to the prospectus for a more detailed discussion of the risks inherent in 
investing in the ICAV. The Directors review quarterly investment performance reports and receive regular 
presentations from the Investment Manager covering the ICAV’s performance and risk profile during the 
financial year. The Directors have delegated the day-to-day administration of the investment programme to 
the Investment Manager. The Investment Manager is also responsible for ensuring that the ICAV is 
managed within the terms of its investment guidelines and limits set out in the prospectus.  
 
a) Market Risk  
 
Market risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future values of investments influenced by other price, 
currency and interest rate movements. It represents the potential loss the ICAV may suffer through holding 
market positions in the face of market movements. In addition, the ICAV is indirectly exposed to the risks of 
the portfolios and the underlying CIS held by DAC 1 and DAC 2. 
 
(i) Market risk arising from foreign currency risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  
 
The ICAV may invest in financial instruments denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. 
Consequently, the ICAV is exposed, directly and/or indirectly, to risks that the exchange rate of its 
functional currency relative to other currencies may change in a manner which has an adverse effect on the 
value of the portion of the ICAV’s assets which are denominated in currencies other than its own currency. 
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16. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
a) Market Risk (continued) 
 
(i) Market risk arising from foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
The ICAV may engage in foreign currency hedging to minimise the effect of currency movements between 
the currencies of the investments held by the ICAV and the ICAV’s currency hedged share classes. 
 
Profit participating notes do not have any direct foreign currency exposure risk as they are denominated in 
the same currency as the ICAV functional currency. 
 
The following table details the ICAV’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2025: 
 

EUR USD GBP CHF GBP
Assets
Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss                -                  -     297,854,917       -      297,854,917 
Cash and cash equivalents     5,076,917         38,771       4,608,215  3,502       9,727,405 
Interest receivable              333                -       21,643,907       -       21,644,240 
Other receivables and 
prepayments           7,806                -               7,837       -              15,643 
Total assets     5,085,056         38,771   324,114,876  3,502    329,242,205 

Liabilities
Investment management fees 
payable                -                  -          (126,321)       -           (126,321)
Administration fees payable        (60,031)                -                      -       -             (60,031)
Depositary fees payable        (29,896)                -                      -       -             (29,896)
Directors' fees payable        (21,123)                -                      -       -             (21,123)
Audit fees payable        (21,992)                -                      -       -             (21,992)
Legal fees payable          (7,841)                -                      -       -              (7,841)
Other payables                -                  -            (56,266)       -             (56,266)
Net assets attributable to 
shareholders  (55,203,135)  (12,397,157)  (261,318,443)       -     (328,918,735)
Total Liabilities  (55,344,018)  (12,397,157)  (261,501,030)         -   (329,242,205)

Net exposure  (50,258,962)  (12,358,386)     62,613,846  3,502                  - 
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16. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
a) Market Risk (continued) 
 
(i) Market risk arising from foreign currency risk (continued) 
 
The following table details the Fund’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 March 2024: 
 

Total
EUR USD GBP SEK GBP

Assets
Financial assets at fair value 
through                -           34,417   278,757,764       -      278,792,181 
Cash and cash equivalents   21,012,120         39,656     17,676,710       15     38,728,501 
Interest receivable           8,264                -       15,008,198       -       15,016,462 
Other receivables and 
prepayments           7,644                -             21,882       -              29,526 
Total assets   21,028,028         74,073   311,464,554       15    332,566,670 

Liabilities
Investment management fees 
payable                -                    -        (137,435)         -         (137,435)
Administration fees payable        (29,354)                  -                    -         -           (29,354)
Depositary fees payable        (11,726)                -                      -         -           (11,726)
Directors' fees payable        (21,957)                -                      -         -           (21,957)
Audit fees payable        (26,047)                -                      -         -           (26,047)
Legal fees payable        (23,791)                -                      -         -           (23,791)
Other payables                  -                -            (17,148)         -           (17,148)
Net assets attributable to 
shareholders  (52,890,014)  (11,530,311)  (267,878,887)         -   (332,299,212)
Total Liabilities  (53,002,889)  (11,530,311)  (268,033,470)         -   (332,566,670)

Net exposure  (31,974,861)  (11,456,238)     43,431,084       15                    - 

 As at 31 March 2025, if the GBP had strengthened/weakened by 5% in relation to all other foreign 
currencies in which the ICAV has exposure to, with all other variables held constant, net assets attributable 
to the Partners would have (decreased)/increased by (GBP 3,130,692) (2024: (GBP 2,171,554)). 
 
(ii) Market risk arising from interest rate risk 
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The ICAV does not invest in securities that will directly expose 
the ICAV to interest rate risk. The ICAV’s investments in the profit participating notes of DAC 1 and DAC 2 
are limited recourse obligations of these limited companies and are valued based on the fair value of their 
underlying assets and liabilities. Changes in interest income on profit participating notes is driven by 
realised gains/losses from underlying investments sold by the DAC 1 and DAC 2 and is not directly affected 
by changes in interest rate. Interest rate risk on investment in abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) is immaterial as 
on reporting date. 
 

The ICAV may also be indirectly affected by the impact of interest rate changes on the earnings of certain 
companies in which its subsidiaries invest, and the impact on the valuation that use interest rates as an 
input in the valuation model, such as the discounted cash flow models used in the valuation of unlisted 
investments. 
 

(iii) Market risk arising from other price risk 
 

Aside from interest rate and currency risk, there may be other factors that may impact the fair value of 
investments, whether these factors are specific to the individual investment, the type of investment or the 
market generally. These other factors are considered in the initial investment analysis as well as during 
ongoing monitoring of the investments. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
16. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
a) Market Risk (continued) 
 
(iii) Market risk arising from other price risk (continued) 
 
Other price risk - The risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the financial instrument or its issuer, or factors 
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
 
If the value of the profit participating notes within financial assets at fair value through profit and loss at 
31 March 2025 had increased by 5% with all other variables held constant, this would have increased net 
assets by approximately GBP14,892,746 (31 March 2024: GBP13,860,290). Conversely, if its value had 
decreased by 5%, this would have decreased net assets by approximately the same amount. 
 
b) Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the ICAV will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities. Liquidity risk to the ICAV arises from the redemption requests of the investors and the 
liquidity of the underlying investments the ICAV has invested in. The ICAV’s shareholders may redeem 
their shares on the close of any quarterly dealing deadline for cash equal to a proportionate share of the 
ICAV’s NAV, excluding any duties and charges where applicable. 
 
The ICAV is therefore potentially exposed to the liquidity risk of meeting the shareholders’ redemptions and 
may need to sell assets at prevailing market prices to meet liquidity demands. However, a shareholder’s 
right to redemption proceeds will be limited to the extent the ICAV is unable, or restricted in its ability, to 
provide redemption proceeds as per the terms detailed in the prospectus and supplement. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
16. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
b) Liquidity Risk (continued) 
 
As at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the ICAV’s financial liabilities classified into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity date were as follows: 
 

31 March 2025 1 - 3 3 months Over 1
months to 1 year year Total

GBP GBP GBP GBP
Liabilities
Investment management fees payable (126,321)        -                 -                   (126,321)        
Administration fees payable (60,031)          -                 -                   (60,031)          
Depositary fees payable (29,896)          -                 -                   (29,896)          
Directors' fees payable (21,123)          -                 -                   (21,123)          
Audit fees payable -                    (21,992)       -                   (21,992)          
Legal fees payable (7,841)            -                 -                   (7,841)            
Other payables (56,266)          -                 -                   (56,266)          
Net assets attributable to shareholders -                    -                 (328,918,735) (328,918,735)  
Total Liabilities (301,478)        (21,992)       (328,918,735) (329,242,205)  

31 March 2024
1 - 3 3 months Over 1

months to 1 year year Total
GBP GBP GBP GBP

Liabilities
Investment management fees payable (137,435)        -                 -                   (137,435)        
Administration fees payable (29,354)          -                 -                   (29,354)          
Depositary fees payable (11,726)          -                 -                   (11,726)          
Directors' fees payable (21,957)          -                 -                   (21,957)          
Audit fees payable -                    (26,047)       -                   (26,047)          
Legal fees payable (23,791)          -                 -                   (23,791)          
Other payables (17,148)          -                 -                   (17,148)          
Net assets attributable to shareholders -                    -                 (332,299,212) (332,299,212)  
Total Liabilities (241,411)        -                 (332,299,212) (332,566,670)  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
16. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
c) Counterparty credit risk  
 
Counterparty credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the 
other party by failing to discharge an obligation. The ICAV is exposed to counterparty credit risk on parties 
with whom it trades and bears the risk of settlement default.  
 
The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the maximum credit risk exposure at the statement of 
financial position date. At the financial year end, the ICAV’s financial assets exposed to credit risk amounted 
to the following:  
 

2025 2024
GBP GBP

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss        297,854,917        276,447,990 
Cash and cash equivalents           9,727,405          38,728,501 
Interest receivable         21,644,240          15,016,462 
Other receivables and prepayments                15,643                29,526 
Total assets        329,242,205        330,222,479 

 
 
The ICAV is exposed to credit risk through cash balances held with financial institutions, though the risk is 
managed by transacting with institutions with high credit ratings. 
 
To mitigate the ICAV’s counterparty credit risk with respect to The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV (the 
“Bank”), the Board of Directors employ specific procedures to ensure that the Bank employed is a reputable 
institution and that the associated counterparty credit risk is acceptable to the ICAV. 
 
The tables below set out the credit ratings for counterparties for amounts presented on the Statement of 
Financial Position as cash and cash equivalents and margin cash with broker:  
 

Fitch's Credit 
Rating

Moody's Credit 
Rating

2025
GBP

Counterparty
abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) AAA Aaa            4,562,551 
KBC BANK NV, LONDON BRANCH TERM A+ Aa3            5,012,689 
The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV AA Aa2               152,165 
Total assets            9,727,405 

Fitch's Credit 
Rating

Moody's Credit 
Rating

2024
GBP

Counterparty
abrdn Liquidity Fund (Lux) AAA Aaa          13,015,491 
KBC BANK NV, LONDON BRANCH TERM A+ Aa3            9,869,380 
Credit Agricole Corporate Investment Bank Term A+ Aa3            9,274,779 
Societe Generale Term A- A1            4,608,023 
The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NV AA Aa2            1,960,828 
Total assets          38,728,501  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
17. Reconciliation of Net Asset Value per Share 
 

The following table shows net asset value as at 31 March 2025 including a reconciliation between the NAV 
per share reported to shareholders and that presented in the Statement of Financial Position. The 
adjustment to valuation of investments relates to updated valuations for the carrying value of the profit 
participating notes due to revised valuations for the underlying CIS held by DAC1 and DAC 2. 
 

31 March 2025

Total net asset value £321,886,544  £7,032,191 £328,918,735

Net asset value per Class
Class EUR Accumulating Shares 3,525,607   €63,477,433 €1,385,054 €64,862,487
Class GBP Accumulating Shares 2,000,396   £33,863,460 £739,808 £34,603,268
Class USD Accumulating Shares 985,689      $15,657,848 $342,970 $16,000,818
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €1,076 €25 €1,101
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €1,921 €42 €1,963
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares 12,353,172 £221,868,067 £4,847,107 £226,715,174
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares 100            $1,670 $38 $1,708
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares 100,351      €1,072,494 €23,401 €1,095,895

Net asset value per share
Class EUR Accumulating Shares 3,525,607   €18.0047 €0.3928 €18.3975
Class GBP Accumulating Shares 2,000,396   £16.9284 £0.3698 £17.2982
Class USD Accumulating Shares 985,689      $15.8852 $0.3479 $16.2331
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €10.7640 €0.2493 €11.0133
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €19.2117 €0.4218 €19.6335
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares 12,353,172 £17.9604 £0.3924 £18.3528
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares 100            $16.7048 $0.3765 $17.0813
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares 100,351      €10.6874 €0.2332 €10.9206

31 March 2024

Total net asset value £330,747,242 £1,551,970 £332,299,212

Net asset value per Class
Class EUR Accumulating Shares 3,681,246   €61,572,475 €291,641 €61,864,116
Class GBP Accumulating Shares 2,329,494   £37,408,040 £175,530 £37,583,570
Class USD Accumulating Shares 982,247      $14,496,093 $68,186 $14,564,279
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €1,009 €0.0000 €1,009
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares 100            £1,769 €8 £1,777
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares 13,567,624 $229,219,746 £1,075,571 $230,295,317
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares 100            $1,537 $8 $1,545

Net asset value per share
Class EUR Accumulating Shares 3,681,246   €16.7260 €0.0792 €16.8052
Class GBP Accumulating Shares 2,329,494   £16.0584 £0.0754 £16.1338
Class USD Accumulating Shares 982,247      $14.7581 $0.0694 $14.8275
Class A EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €10.0926 €0.0000 €10.0926
Class Z EUR Accumulating Shares 100            €17.6856 €0.0000 €17.6856
Class Z GBP Accumulating Shares 13,567,624 £16.8946 £0.0000 £16.8946
Class Z USD Accumulating Shares 100            $15.3671 $0.0000 $15.3671

Number of 
shares

NAV advised to 
shareholders

Adjustment to
 valuation of
 investments

Revised Net asset 
value per 

Statement of 
Financial Position

Number of 
shares

NAV advised to 
shareholders

Adjustment to 
valuation of 
investments

Revised Net asset 
value per 

Statement of 
Financial Position
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
18. Exchange Rates 
 
The following exchange rates have been used to translate assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 
31 March 2024: 
 

2025 2024
Euro 0.83688 0.85494
US Dollar 0.77474 0.79161
Swiss Franc 0.87566 0.87881
Swedish Krona 0.07713 0.07403  

 
19. Significant Events During the Financial Year  
 
Class S EUR Accumulating Shares were launched on 31 May 2024. 
 
There were no other significant event impacting the ICAV during the financial year. 
 
20. Subsequent Events  
 
Effective from 3 June 2025, Carne Global Fund Managers (Ireland) Limited was appointed as AIFM.  
 
Effective 3 June 2025, the Company Secretary and Registered Office were updated to Carne Global 
Financial Services Limited, 3rd Floor, 55 Charlemont Place, Dublin 2, Ireland, D02 F985. 
 
The Fund’s prospectus is amended on 3 June 2025, to reflect roles and responsibilities of AIFM and 
changes in AIFM fees. 
 
There were no other subsequent events impacting the ICAV since the financial year end. 
 
21. Approval of Financial Statements  
 
The financial statements were approved by the Directors on 11 September 2025. 
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Unaudited Schedule of Investments 
31 March 2025

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
% of Net

Maturity Date
Fair Value

GBP
 Asset 
Value

Investment in profit participating notes
Ireland
abrdn GPM 1 Designated Activity Company 31 December 2047 196,626,599 59.78%
abrdn GPM 2 Designated Activity Company 31 December 2047 101,228,318 30.78%
Total investment in profit participating notes 297,854,917 90.56%

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 297,854,917 90.56%

Cash and cash equivalents 9,727,405 2.95%

Other net assets 21,336,413 6.49%

Net assets attributable to redeemable participating shareholders 328,918,735 100.00%
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Unaudited reporting requirement in respect of the AIFM Directive  
 
Remuneration Policy 
The Aberdeen Group plc Remuneration Policy applies with effect from 1 January 2024. The purpose of the 
Aberdeen Group plc Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”) is to document clearly the remuneration policies, 
practices and procedures of abrdn. It has been approved by the Aberdeen Group plc Remuneration 
Committee and is subject to the Remuneration Committee’s annual review. This policy is available on 
request. 
 
The Policy applies to employees of the Aberdeen Group of companies (“Aberdeen”), including the 
Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (AIFMD) Management Companies (“ManCos”) and the 
AIFMD funds that the ManCo manages.  
 
Remuneration Principles 
Aberdeen applies Group wide principles for remuneration policies, procedures and practices ensuring that: 
 

 Remuneration within the Group is simple, transparent and fair. 
 Our Policy supports our long-term strategy by reinforcing a performance-driven culture. It aligns 

the interests of our employees, shareholders and, importantly, our clients / customers. 
 Our remuneration structure is flexible to accommodate the different challenges and priorities 

across all businesses and functions as appropriate. 
 Remuneration policies, procedures and practices promote good conduct, including sound and 

effective risk management and do not encourage risk taking that exceeds the level of tolerated risk 
appetite. 

 Remuneration extends beyond the provision of fixed and variable pay, with a focus on the 
retirement provision and the wellbeing needs of our employees, as part of our remuneration 
philosophy. 

 Total remuneration delivered is affordable for the Group. 
 
Remuneration Framework 
Employee remuneration is composed principally of fixed and variable elements of reward as follows: 
 

a) Fixed remuneration (salary and cash allowances, where appropriate; and Benefits (including 
pension). 

b) Variable remuneration (bonus, a proportion of which may be subject to retention or deferral 
depending on role and regulatory requirements; senior employees may also be awarded a long-term 
incentive award). 

 
Appropriate ratios of fixed: variable remuneration will be set to as to ensure that: 
 

a) Fixed and variable components of total remuneration are appropriately balanced; and 
b) The fixed component is a sufficiently high proportion of total remuneration to allow Aberdeen to 

operate a fully flexible policy on variable remuneration components, including having the ability to 
award no variable remuneration component in certain circumstances where either individual and / 
or Group performance does not support such an award. 
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Unaudited reporting requirement in respect of the AIFM Directive (continued) 
 
Base salary Base salary provides a core reward for undertaking the role and depending on the 

role, geographical or business market variances or other indicators, additional fixed 
cash allowances may make up a portion of fixed remuneration. Periodic reviews take 
into account the employee’s role, scope of responsibilities, skills and experience, 
salary benchmarks (where available) and, where relevant, any local legislative or 
regulatory requirements. 

Benefits 
(including 
retirement 
benefit where 
appropriate) 

Benefits are made up of core benefits which are provided to all employees; and extra 
voluntary benefits that may be chosen by certain employees which may require 
contribution through salary sacrifice or other arrangements.    
 
Retirement benefits are managed in line with the relevant legislative requirements and 
governance structures. In certain, very limited circumstances, a cash allowance may 
be offered in lieu of a retirement arrangement.   

Annual 
Performance 
Bonus Awards 

Employees who have been employed during a performance year (1 January to 31 
December) may be eligible to be considered for an annual bonus in respect of that 
year.  
 
Annual bonuses are based upon Group, Business, Function, Team and Individual 
performance (with individual performance assessed against agreed goals and 
behaviours). The variable remuneration pool for all eligible employees, including 
Identified Staff or Material Risk Takers (“MRTs”), is determined initially by reference to 
profitability and other quantitative and qualitative financial and non-financial factors, 
incorporating consideration of all risk categories, including sustainability risks* (on an 
ex-post and ex-ante basis). In reaching its final funding decision, the Committee 
exercises its judgement to ensure that the outcome reflects holistic Company 
performance considerations.   
 
abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. has specific obligations to act in the best 
interests of the AIFMD funds it manages and its investors. Accordingly, the 
performance of the underlying funds and the interests of investors (including, where 
relevant, investment risk) are also taken into account as appropriate. The Risk and 
Capital Committee and the Audit Committee formally advise the Committee as part of 
this process.  
 
The overall bonus pool is allocated to businesses and functions based on absolute 
and relative performance of each business and function and their alignment with 
strategic priorities and risk considerations. Allocation by region and subdivision / team 
is determined on a discretionary basis by the business / function and regional heads 
based on the absolute and relative performance of the constituent teams and 
alignment with strategic priorities.   
 
Individual annual bonus awards are determined at the end of the 12-month 
performance period with performance assessed against financial and non-financial 
individual objectives, including behaviour and conduct.  Individual awards for Identified 
Staff are reviewed and approved by the Committee (with some individual award 
approvals delegated, as appropriate, to the Group’s Compensation Committee, over 
which the Committee retains oversight). In carrying out these approvals, the 
Committee seeks to ensure that outcomes are fair in the context of overall Group 
performance measures and adjusted, where appropriate, to reflect input from the Risk 
and Capital Committee and the Audit Committee.  Variable remuneration awards are 
subject to deferral for a period of up to three years. A retention period may also be 
applied as required by the relevant regulatory requirements. Deferral rates and periods 
comply, at a minimum, with regulatory requirements. In addition to the application of 
ex-ante adjustments described above, variable remuneration is subject to ex-post 
adjustment (malus / clawback arrangements).   

.
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Unaudited reporting requirement in respect of the AIFM Directive (continued) 
 
Other elements 
of 
remuneration – 
selected 
employees   

The following remuneration arrangements may be awarded in certain very limited 
circumstances:    
 
Carried Interest Plans – These arrangements are designed to reward performance in 
roles where a carried interest plan is appropriate. Selected employees are granted 
carried interest shares in private market funds established by the Group.   
 
Buy-Out Awards / Guaranteed Bonuses – These are intended to facilitate / support 
the recruitment of new employees. Buy-outs are not awarded, paid or provided unless 
they are in the context of hiring new employees. Guaranteed bonuses are not 
awarded, paid or provided unless they are exceptional and in the context of hiring new 
employees and limited to the first year of service. These awards are only made where 
such a payment or award is permitted under any relevant remuneration regulations 
and are designed to compensate for actual or expected remuneration foregone from 
previous employers by virtue of their recruitment.    
 
Retention and Special Performance Awards / LTIP - Supports retention and / or the 
delivery of specific performance outcomes and / or to incentivise senior employees to 
support the long-term, sustained performance of Aberdeen. The Company may 
determine that it is appropriate to grant such awards in limited circumstances. Awards 
are structured to deliver specific retention and / or performance outcomes. Retention 
and / or special performance awards comply with all relevant regulatory requirements.   
 
Severance Pay - Payment made to support an employee whose role is considered to 
be redundant. Severance payments comply with any legislative and regulatory 
requirements and any payments are inclusive of any statutory entitlement. In the event 
of severance, the treatment of any individual elements of an employee’s remuneration 
is governed, as appropriate, by relevant plan or scheme rules. 

 
Control Functions  
The Group ensures that, as appropriate, senior employees engaged in a control function are independent 
from the business units they oversee and have appropriate authority to undertake their roles and duties. 
These include, but are not necessarily limited to, Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit function roles. Senior 
employees engaged in a control function are remunerated in a way that ensures they are independent from 
the business areas they oversee, have appropriate authority and have their remuneration directly overseen 
by the Committee.  
 
Conflicts of interest  
The Policy is designed to avoid conflicts of interest between the Group and its clients and is designed to 
adhere to local legislation, regulations or other provisions. In circumstances or jurisdictions where there is 
any conflict between the Policy and local legislation, regulations or other provisions, then the latter prevail.  
Where the Committee receives input from members of management on the remuneration arrangements in 
operation across the Group, this never relates to their own remuneration.    
 
Personal Investment Strategies  
The Company adheres to the regulatory principles and industry best practice on the use of personal 
hedging strategies which act in restricting the risk alignment embedded in employee remuneration 
arrangements.   
 
AIFMD Identified Staff / MRTs  
The ‘Identified Staff’ or MRTs of abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. are those employees who could have 
a material impact on the risk profile of abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. or the AIFMD funds it 
manages. This broadly includes senior management, decision makers and control functions.  For the 
purposes of this disclosure, ‘Identified Staff’ includes employees of entities to which activities have been 
delegated. 
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Unaudited reporting requirement in respect of the AIFM Directive (continued) 
 
 
Quantitative Remuneration Disclosure  
The table below provides an overview of the following: 
 

 Aggregate total remuneration paid by abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. to its entire staff; and 
 Aggregate total remuneration paid by abrdn Investments Luxembourg S.A. to its AIFMD ‘Identified 

Staff’. 
 

Amounts shown reflect payments made during the financial reporting period in question. The reporting 
period runs from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024 inclusive.   
 

abrdn Global Private Markets Fund Headcount 
Total 
Remuneration 

£'000 

abrdn Investments Luxemburg SA staff 1 317 72,610 

of which     
Fixed remuneration   45,399 
Variable remuneration   27,211 

abrdn Investments Luxemburg SA ‘Identified Staff’ 2 115 50,744 

of which      
Senior Management 3  43 30,180 
Other ‘Identified Staff’ 72 20,564 

 
 
1. As there are a number of individuals indirectly and directly employed by abrdn Investments Luxembourg 

S.A. this figure represents an apportioned amount of Aberdeen’s total remuneration fixed and variable 
pay, apportioned to the ManCo on an AUM basis. The Headcount figure provided reflects the number of 
beneficiaries calculated on a Full Time Equivalent basis. 

2. The Identified Staff disclosure relates to AIFMD MRTs and represents total compensation of those staff 
of the ManCo who are fully or partly involved in the activities of the ManCo. 

3. Senior Management are defined in this table as ManCo Directors and members of the Aberdeen Group 
plc Board, together with its Executive and Group Operating Committees, Investment Executive 
members and the Chief Product and Marketing Officer. 
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Unaudited reporting requirement in respect of the Securities Financing Transactions Regulation 
2016   
 
Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2015/2365) (“SFTR”) came into force on 12 
January 2016 and, amongst other requirements, introduces new disclosure requirements in the ICAV’s 
annual and interim reports published after 13 January 2017 detailing the ICAV’s use of securities financing 
transactions. 
 
Securities financing transactions are defined as repurchase/reverse repurchase transactions, total return 
swaps, securities borrowing and lending and margin lending transactions. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the ICAV has not entered into any repurchase/reverse 
repurchase transactions, stock lending, securities borrowing and margin lending transactions. 
 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the ICAV has not entered into total return swaps.  
 
Settlement and clearing 
All OTC derivative transactions are entered into by the ICAV under an International Swap and Derivatives 
Association, Inc. Master Agreement (“ISDA Master Agreement”) or similar agreement. An ISDA Master 
Agreement is a bilateral agreement between the ICAV and a counterparty that governs OTC derivative 
transactions (including total return swaps) entered into by the parties. 
 
Maturity Tenor 
All transactions have an open maturity tenor as at 31 March 2025 as they are recallable or terminable on a 
daily basis. 
 
Collateral and safekeeping 
All collateral received/pledged by the ICAV under the ISDA Master Agreement is transferred bilaterally 
under a title transfer arrangement. Collateral received by the ICAV is held by the Depositary in the name of 
the ICAV and is segregated by the Depositary from the assets belonging to the ICAV. 
 
The collateral posted by the ICAV is transferred under a security interest arrangement in accordance with 
the ISDA Master Agreement. 
 
Non-cash collateral received by way of title transfer collateral arrangement in relation to OTC derivative 
transactions, cannot be sold, re-invested or pledged. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, the ICAV has not received or pledged any non-cash collateral. 
 
As at 31 March 2025, there is cash collateral pledged of GBPNil and cash collateral held of GBPNil. 
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This document is an addendum to the Audited Consolidated Annual Report of abrdn Global 
Private Markets Fund (the “Fund”) and must be read in the context of, and together with, the 
Audited Consolidated Annual Report. Unless otherwise provided for herein, all defined terms 

shall have the same meanings as set forth in the Audited Consolidated Annual Report. 

abrdn Global Private Markets Fund 

Addendum to the Audited Consolidated Annual Report for the year ended March 31, 2025 

11 September 2025 

INFORMATION REGARDING THE OFFERING OF SHARES IN SWITZERLAND 

This Addendum forms part of and should be read in conjunction with the Audited Consolidated Annual 
Report. 

1. Swiss Representative 

The representative of the Fund in Switzerland is First Independent Fund Services Ltd, Klausstrasse 33, CH-
8008 Zurich (the “Swiss Representative”). 

2. Swiss Paying Agent 

The paying agent of the Fund in Switzerland is NPB Neue Privat Bank AG, Limmatquai 1/am Bellevue, P.O. 
Box, CH-8024 Zurich (the “Swiss Paying Agent”). 

3. Location of Documents 

The prospectus, the articles and the annual financial statements of the Fund may be obtained free of 
charge from the Swiss Representative.  

4. Place of Performance and Jurisdiction 

In respect of the shares offered in Switzerland to Qualified Investors, the place of performance is at the 
registered office of the Swiss Representative. The place of jurisdiction is at the registered office of the Swiss 
Representative or at the registered office or place of residence of the investor.   

5. Qualified Investors 

The fund may only be offered in Switzerland to qualified investors within the meaning of Article 10 CISA. 

6. Country of domicile 

The country of domicile of the Fund is Ireland.

 




